
 

 

 

 

 



POSTED December 15, 2017 

 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 
Date:  December 19, 2017 
 
Location: GRAND JUNCTION CITY HALL 
  250 N. 5TH ST  
  GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81501 
  HEARING ROOM    
 
Time: 5:15 PM 
 
BOARD MEETING AGENDA  

 
I. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

 
III. Commissioner Comments 

 
IV. Citizens Comments 

The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes public comments at its 
meetings. The Citizens Comment period is open to all individuals that would like to 
comment. If you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment portion of the agenda, 
please fill out a comment card prior to the meeting. If you have a written statement 
for the Board, please have 10 copies available and give them to the Clerk for 
distribution to the Board. The Board Chairman will indicate when you may come 
forward and comment. Please state your name for the record. 

 
V. Consent Agenda 

The Consent Agenda is intended to allow the Board to spend its time on the more 
complex items on the agenda. These items are perceived as non-controversial and can 
be approved by a single motion. The public or Board Members may ask that an item 
be removed from the Consent Agenda and be considered individually. 
A. November 9, 2017 Meeting Minutes      1 
B. November 16, 2017 Meeting Minutes     1 
C. November 28, 2017 Meeting Minutes     1 
D. December 5, 2017 Meeting Minutes      1 
E. G4S invoice         2 
F. DKMG invoice        3 
G. Veoci invoice         4 
H. Mead & Hunt invoice - boarding bridge design    5 
I. Mead & Hunt invoice - terminal renovations design    6 

 
VI. Staff Reports 



POSTED December 15, 2017 

A. Financial report (Ty Minnick)       7 
B. Activity report (Shelagh O’Kane)      8 
 

VII. Discussion/Action Items 
A. Commemorative Air Force lease (Ty Minnick)    9 
B. Airport project invoices, grants and updates (Eric Trinklein)  10 

1. IHC invoice – east apron        11 
2. Garver scope amendment – east apron     12 
3. Garver invoice – east apron      13 
4. Garver scope approval – Taxiway A rehabilitation   14 
5. Mead & Hunt invoice – runway design     15 
6. Remote Transmitter/Receiver – geotechnical analysis   16 
 

VIII. Any other business which may come before the Board 
 

IX. Adjournment 
 
 

 
 



November 9, 2017 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

 
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 
November 9, 2017 

 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING  
Time: 5:15PM  

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 
Mr. Rick Taggart, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport Authority Board to order at 5:23 PM on November 9, 2017 in Grand Junction, 
Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

  
Commissioner McDaniel suggested to move section VI. Discussion/Action Items, up 
after citizen comments. 
 
Commissioner Brown moved for the Board to approve the agenda with the change. 
Commissioner Benton seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 
 

III. Commissioner Comments 
 

Commissioners Present: 
Rick Taggart, Chairman 
Tom Benton 
Chuck McDaniel 
Robin Brown 
Erling Brabaek 
Thaddeus Shrader 
Clay Tufly 
 
Airport Staff: 
Mark Achen 
Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk 
  

Other: 
  



November 9, 2017 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

Commissioner McDaniel noted that they received a CORA request from Mr. Shepard and 
Marvel for the record of the investigation made following the FBI raid in 2013. That 
investigation was conducted by outside counsel and his work is privileged and 
confidential under Colorado law, therefore, exempt from a CORA request and they so 
responded to Mr. Shepard and Mr. Marvel.  
 
Commissioner Brown requested a work session format to discuss updates. 
  
 

IV. Citizens Comments 
None.   
 

V. Discussion/Action Items 
 
A. Revised November Board Meeting Date 

Mr. Achen said that it would be the 16th of November beginning at 4PM for the 
workshop and the regular meeting at 5:15PM and it will all be in the Hearing room at 
the City. 
 

B. Security discussion 
Chairman Taggart stated that in a past executive session they did ask for the FAA to 
weigh in with their thoughts having to do with a revision of the security plan which 
would either cause gates to be changed and/or fences to be changed. Chairman 
Taggart stated that they do have a response from the FAA stating that there could be a 
significant claw back of dollars on this project because the fence and gates did have a 
significant FAA grant of around $4million, while he didn’t say the exact amount, he 
did say it could be a significant claw back without using the term “claw back”. 
Chairman Taggart said that he also added to it that it would have an impact on grants 
upcoming where the fence plays a role in terms of finishing it on the north end of the 
property.  
 
Commissioner Benton stated that it would make sense, from a government funding 
perspective, that if they contributed 90+% to that project, if the Board does an action 
it would significantly change the purpose of what that was and it would fall upon the 
airport to absorb that cost. 
 
Commissioner Brown said that they have come up with three or four options to help 
the GA out but none of them have worked out. Commissioner Brown stated that she 
and Commissioner McDaniel have discussed that it’s time to come up with a way to 
develop a business park outside of the AOA that can solve those needs and be able to 
have businesses at the airport without impeding on their security.  
 
A discussion took place to create a notice to make the public aware that the airport 
has essentially been put on notice that if they alter this and follow through with the 
plans, then there will be significant financial repercussion. 
 



November 9, 2017 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

Commissioner McDaniel made a motion that the Board will not implement the 
security solutions committee recommendation and will remain with their current 
plan. Commissioner Brown seconded. Voice Vote. Commissioner Tufly: Abstain; six 
Ayes.  
 

VI. Executive Session 
Commissioner Benton:  
As required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law, a tape recording is being made of 
our discussions now and during the executive session. 
 
All members of the Board are present except 
           
 .  There is a quorum present. 
 
The topics for discussion in the executive session are: 
 

• Personnel matters except if the employee who is the subject of the session has 
requested an open meeting, or if the personnel matter involves more than one 
employee, all of the employees have requested an open meeting as authorized by 
C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f); and 

• determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations; 
developing strategy for negotiations; and instructing negotiators as authorized by 
C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e) more specifically for the position of Executive 
Director 
 
Each participant must confine his or her discussion to these stated topics of the 
executive session.  No formal action may occur in the executive session. 
 
If at any point in the executive session any participant believes that the discussion is 
going outside the proper scope of the executive session, please interrupt the 
discussion and make an objection. 
 
I NOW MOVE TO GO INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS 
SECURITY DETAILS AND APPLICATIONS FOR AIRPORT MANAGER 
PER THE C.R.S. PREVIOUSLY STATED.  WE WILL VOTE ON THIS 
MOTION BY A ROLL CALL VOTE.  PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND 
YOUR VOTE. COMMISSIONER BROWN SECONDED. 

 
Commissioner Brabaek: Aye, Commissioner Shrader: Aye, Commissioner Benton: 
Aye, Commissioner Brown: Aye, Commissioner McDaniel: Aye, Commissioner 
Tufly: Aye, Chairman Taggart: Aye. 

 
 
 

Rick Taggart, Board Chairman 
 



November 9, 2017 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk to the Board 
 
 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

 
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 

November 16, 2017 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
Time: 5:15PM  

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 
Mr. Tom Benton, Board Vice-Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction 
Regional Airport Authority Board to order at 5:17 PM on November 16, 2017 in Grand 
Junction, Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

 

Commissioners Present: 
Tom Benton 
Chuck McDaniel 
Robin Brown 
Erling Brabaek 
Commissioner Shrader 
 
Airport Staff: 
Mark Achen 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk 
Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk 
Ty Minnick 
Shelagh O’Kane 
Eric Trinklein 
Ben Peck 
Mark Papko  

Other: 
Shannon Kinslow, TOIL 
Bill Marvel, GJAUTA 
Jerry McDonogh, CAF-CAP GJAUTA 
Ron Huddleston, GJAUTA 
Colin Bible, Garver 
Kay Johnson, CAF 
Eddie Clements, Hawk Aviators 
Troy Ball, GJAUTA 
Thomas Aines, WCARC 
David Bratcher, CAP/WCAAC 
Wayne Clark, GJAUTA 
Scott Fasken, Pilot 
Larry Kempton, Kempton Air Service LLC 
Donald Coleman, CAF 
Travis Reese, GJAUTA 
Tom Howe, CAF 
Dick Maddock, CAF 
Joseph, GJAUTA 
Robert Thompson, CAF 
Gordon Fogle, Hangar Owner 
Deborah Fogle, Hangar Owner 
Danny Pinson, DNT Avionics 
Deborah Gaul, Hangar Owner 
Scott Carry, Mead & Hunt 
Kent Taylor, CAF  



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

Vice-chairman Benton stated that right after Citizen Comments they will have an 
Executive session. 
 
Commissioner Brown moved for the Board to have an Executive session right after 
Citizen Comments. Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes. 
 
Vice-chairman Benton verified dates on item number 3. Airport Rescue & Fire Fighting 
packs bid approval, on the Consent agenda. 
 
Vice-chairman Benton asked for a discussion on the G4S addendum item. 
 
Vice-chairman Benton asked for item E. Executive Director Employment Agreement to 
be moved up since Commissioner Shrader is having to leave the meeting early. 
 
Mr. Minnick said that it A. Commemorative Air Force, on Discussion/Action Items, can 
be removed from the agenda per the Commemorative Air Force. 
 
Commissioner Brown made a motion for the Board to approve the agenda with the 
modifications listed. Commissioner Brabaek. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  
 

III. Commissioner Comments 
 

Commissioner Brown commented “I served as an Army aviator from 1997 to 2005 spending a 
lot of time flying in and out of airports across the county and the world. 9/11 fell right in the 
middle of my time as an army pilot and I experienced firsthand how airports changed almost 
overnight. The immediate changes to security for those flying commercial was an inconvenient, 
but inevitable step. We’re still dealing with those changes, having to incorporate new, increased 
security measures as recently as a month ago. General aviation airports across the country have 
also had to deal with increased security in the form of fencing and gates, which has hurt 
commercial business and created a customer service nightmare for flight schools, and other 
businesses that rely on walk-in traffic. It’s unfortunate and it’s inconvenient and I don’t like it, 
but it’s the reality of today.  
 
Further complicating our situation is the layout of our airport. Our AOA and GA community are 
wedged at an awkward corner between our two runways, instead of situated along a road parallel 
the runway as many airports are. Over the past few months, authority members sat down with 
maps and redrew lines and fencing to try to find a solution- specifically for the Commemorative 
Air Force Museum. Authority members drove around looking at road access, fencing, and 
hangars to find something that would work, including rebuilding the fence to go around the 
museum and leave it alone open to the public. We were told by the TSA that this was not an 
option because it discriminated against the other airport tenants. In other words, it’s all or 
nothing. We can’t play favorites.  
 
We’ve released the letter we received from the FAA stating that should we remove the gates, 
we’d not only be required to pay them back, but that we could also jeopardize future funding for 
projects. We just launched the largest project in our airport’s history, the $120 million runway 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

project which will largely be funded by the FAA. I don’t believe that jeopardizing that project is 
in the best interest of the airport or our community and therefore I will not use my role as an 
airport authority member to do so. There is no easy answer. 
 
However, none of this is unique to our airport. General Aviation airports across the country are 
dealing with the fallout of fencing and gates. There are no shortage of aviation forums arguing 
the exact points that will be raised here tonight or have been raised since those fences went up 
five years ago. However, there are plenty of examples of general aviation airports that have dealt 
with these changes while still managing to remain open for business. Deer Valley airport in 
Phoenix is one such airport. Jackson airport in Michigan is another one. 
 
Barring any other ideas, which I remain open to, I believe there are a number of things we can do 
to make the airport more accessible to the public. Better signage is a first obvious step. An 
observation or viewing area is another way to encourage people to come out to the airport. Open 
Houses and events such as the 1940’s hangar dance recently put on by the CAF are also great 
ways to get the public out. There used to be a nice restaurant at the airport for the public. Maybe 
there could be again. And finally, I propose we figure out how to relocate the museum outside of 
the AOA.  
 
I want to point out that with the exception of Chairman Taggart, the entire airport authority has 
turned over since January. We’ve put in an unusual amount of time tackling the problems of the 
past in order to get this airport to begin moving forward again. Within our first year, we will 
have awarded a contract and started construction on a new runway (a 10 year, $120M project), 
awarded a contract and begun work to temporarily keep the terminal going until it can be 
replaced, rewritten our minimum standards, renegotiated airline and car rental leases, formed a 
successful public-private partnership to solve the problem of the administration building, secured 
a location and begun the process for a customs office and eventually a foreign trade zone, and 
hired our 4th airport director in 4 years. Maybe we can add better signage and assisting the 
museum with a move to that list. 
 
This board is looking forward. We’re setting the stage for success that is 5/10/20 years out. That 
is our focus. We’ve learned important lessons from the past that will not be repeated. I believe 
we will soon hire a fantastic new airport director that we are committed to setting up for success. 
I hope that the GA community chooses to work with us on this.”  
 
Commissioner McDaniel commented, “In order to set the record straight about the special board 
meeting held one week ago: 
 

• The November 9 meeting was properly noticed.  The topic “Security matters” was 
a part of the agenda. 

• When the public meeting was convened, the board moved the two 
“Discussion/Action Items” up in the agenda to take them up before executive 
session. 

• There were no members of the public present, other than Mr. Harmon – surprising 
to me. 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

• “Security matters” was on the agenda to discuss the recent communication from 
Mr. Bauer of the FAA to Mr. Achen.  That email is now available on the airport 
website and we have a few paper copies available in the room.  I felt that we were 
holding onto important information that should be public. 

• The email responded to Mr. Achen’s letter to the FAA asking for comment on the 
final plan of the Security Solutions Committee to amend the Security Plan to open 
the gates 

• The FAA’s response said there would be a financial impact to the Airport for  
o Repayment of FAA funds used for two gates, fencing installed in 2011 in 

the GA area, and all miscellaneous items associated with the fence project 
in the GA area; 

o Possible impacts on the Wildlife Management Plan, that may affect the 
viability of the remainder of the fence line 

o Future grant requests to complete the fence on the north side of the airport 
after completion of the runway project. 

• The FAA funding for the 2011 fence project was $4 million.  We do not know 
how much of the $4 million the FAA would require to be repaid, but the email 
leaves open “the viability of the remainder of the fence.” 

• The board did not take a position on how much of the $4 million would be 
recaptured.  The board only noted that the maximum exposure is the full amount.  
Reports to the contrary are erroneous. 

• At the chairman’s request the board adopted a resolution rejecting the proposed 
amendment to the Security Plan. 

• Finally, we appreciate the problem of public access to the CAF museum.  We 
have considered a proposal to create public access by reconfiguring the fence line, 
but there are issues to resolve, principally an indication from the FAA that access 
to one tenant would be discrimination.  We are also willing to work with the CAF 
to consider relocating the museum.” 

 
Vice-chairman Benton commented that when everyone thinks about what has transpired 
in the last few months, certainly there has been significant investigation of alternative 
routes on how to manage the areas that five years ago were fenced in. Mr. Benton said 
that this commission took that task in sincere effort to see what would be available along 
those lines and recognizing that the airport has a number of things going on at the 
moment, certainly for the long term future. Runway 11/29 is a significant financial cost to 
the airport, but long term is what they need in this community for passenger 
transportation. Mr. Benton stat that that project is $120million in size and they will need 
to accrue about $12million +/- to get that to happen over the next few years. Mr. Benton 
said that the existing terminal building is another concern and there is significant cost 
associated with that to get resolved. Mr. Benton said that when you look at the resources 
for a small airport like Grand Junction, they need to be allocated in a proper way. Mr. 
Benton recognized all board members and said that they are all volunteers trying to do a 
good job.     
 

IV. Citizens Comments 
 Dave Shepard, GJAUTA 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 5 
 
 

GJAUTA Comment Outline, provided by Mr. Shepard 
1. The request for the Authority’s investigation report. 
2. A review of general aviation’s role in Grand Junction 

A. Statistics 
B. GA’s role in funding the airport 
C. The problem of access, and consequences 

3. Brief review of institutional history: GA and the Authority 
A. 2011-2013: Tippet’s, the sounding of false alarms, its legacy 
B. 2013-2015: Better relations and cooperative problem solving 
C. 2016: Near the goal line 
D. 2016-2017: The Turner wrecking ball arrives. 
E. 2017: Discarding institutional knowledge and capability. What sense does that 

make? 
F. 2017: Damaging trust and confidence. 

4. The Authority and the FAA 
A. The FAA, Denver ADO, Bauer, Miller 

1. The FAA does is not God, but a bureaucracy.  
2. The Denver ADO made errors 
3. The Authority’s approach to the FAA is weak. 

B. The FAA response to the Airport: a critical analysis 
C. The aftermath of the FAA response: a further breakdown in citizen trust. 

 
5.  Compliance with Grant Assurances 
 A. It’s not about UBER drivers. 
 B. It’s not about opened one 12 foot gate. 
 C. The Authority has a huge compliance problem right now! (and people won’t wait 

another six years for a fix) 
6. Getting over Hurt Feelings, and Solving Problems 
 A. The required foundation: candor and truthfulness 
 B. Marshaling resources, and using them appropriately. 
 
Bill Marvel, GJAUTA 
 
Mr. Marvel commented that he received a solicitation from an aircraft maintenance 
facility. Mr. Marvel stated that he has been here for eleven years, owns an airplane that is 
registered with the FAA, all of his contact is public information, and he has never 
received a solicitation from a maintenance facility that wants his business. Mr. Marvel 
said that their maintenance facility is so reduced down in capacity that Moab Utah is 
soliciting business from Grand Junction. 
 
Mr. Marvel commented that the Security Solutions Committee (SSC) that use to be I 
place had the expertise with security and the TSA. Mr. Marvel said that that same 
committee had the desire to push back, when necessary, and the ability to see barriers 
and move around barriers and go through or over or around barriers or whatever they had 
to do, because barriers were continuously thrown in the path of success toward getting 
this issue with general public access to the C1A area of the airport. Mr. Marvel said that 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 6 
 
 

for reasons he doesn’t know, the Board opted not to reestablish the SSC and take on the 
burden on their own shoulders. Mr. Marvel said that he believes the lack of the skills and 
the experiences and the ability to push back and take on barriers, was a large reason why 
the board received the letter from the FAA saying, we are going to do everything we can 
bad to you to minimize your chances of success. Mr. Marvel said that the SSC a year ago 
was close to success, there were only a couple of items that were remaining to the 
removal of those gates, the separation of the C1A from the AOA, and the 
implementation of the “new security system”. Mr. Marvel said that he believes, the fact 
that the SSC and all of their skills were left by the waist side, the board was 
“bamboozled” by the FAA. Mr. Marvel stated that he requested a copy of the letter from 
the FAA to read himself. Mr. Marvel stated that after the letter was published in the 
paper, he received many phone calls and emails from angry users and tenants 
complaining about what they read in the paper and that they had be stabbed in the back 
by the airport board voting in a meeting that was properly noticed and advertised, but no 
one anticipated a vote to withdraw the effort to help them solve the security problem 
after it has been worked on for six years. Mr. Marvel said that the SSC was so close to 
having it resolved just a year ago and to have it all vanish was just stunning. Mr. Marvel 
stated that the board is not equipped with the expertise that the SSC had and is not 
equipped to handle these technical and difficult situations. After reading the letter out 
loud, Mr. Marvel stated that there is absolutely nothing in that letter that talks about 
clawing back $4million in fence money. Mr. Marvel stated that there is also nothing in 
that letter about holding back runway funding on the current project. Mr. Marvel stated 
that there is huge misunderstanding or misinterpretation of the FAA email vs. the reality 
of what is hidden inside of it. Mr. Marvel went over three pieces of the letter he felt was 
key. 1. The FAA is not saying they are going to claw back the whole amount but a small 
percentage. 2. Wildlife plan will be resolved by the gates that he been there for 20 years. 
3. A perceived threat from John Bauer with the FAA – “it is our understanding that 
during this project, the Airport will request additional funding to complete the fence 
along the Northern boundary of the airport property. We do not know, at this time, what 
impacts this proposal will have on future funding for the completion of the fence in this 
area.” Mr. Marvel again asked the board to please reconsider establishing the Security 
Solutions Committee and let them continue this project with whatever authority 
necessary. 
 
Commissioner Brown moved for the Board to go into Executive session for the purpose 
of determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations; 
developing strategy for negotiations; and instructing negotiators as authorized by C.R.S. 
Section 24-6-402(4)(e). Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  
 
The Board moved into executive session at approximately 6:30PM. 
 
The Board moved back into open meeting at 7:36PM. 

 
V. Consent Agenda 

a. October 17, 2017 Regular Meeting Minutes 
b. G4S invoice approval 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 7 
 
 

c. Airport Rescue & Fire Fighting packs bid approval 
d. Sunshine Rides addendum 
e. Ground Lease application 
f. G4S addendum 

Commissioner Benton asked for a little bit of history with G4S and the airport.  
 
Mr. Minnick stated that G4S started at the airport in 2015 and they do have rate 
increases of 3% per year. Mr. Minnick said that the reason this is on the agenda 
this month is because if the board didn’t approve the option to extend, they 
would need to get an RFP out to see if they can get other bidders. Mr. Minnick 
stated that G4S is doing a good job and staff has no complaints with them.  
 

g. Mead & Hunt design build consulting invoice 
h. Mead & Hunt terminal renovations invoice 
i. Garver east apron invoice 

 
Commissioner Brown moved for the Board to approve the Consent Agenda. 
Commissioner Brabaek seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes. 

    
VI. Staff Reports 

A. Directors report 
None 

B. Financial report 
Mr. Minnick briefed the Board on the airport’s current financial status (financial 
results report created by Ty Minnick)  
 
Assets – Cash and accounts receivable combined are consistent with prior year. The 
increase in accounts receivable is a result of payments due from FAA for AIP projects 
54, 55, and 56 for a total of approximately $1,400,000. Project costs have been 
submitted for reimbursement.  
 
Liabilities – The accounts payable balance was reduced in February for the payment 
for approximately $520,000 due to the FA, along with the payments to Jviation and 
Armstrong. 
 
Operating Expense – The total operating expense is $300,000 ahead of budget and 
$125,000 ahead of prior year. The majority of the variance is effected by the cost of 
savings from legal fees incurred in 2016. Resulting in an operating gain of $2,064,000 
year to date versus $1,785,000 prior year. 
 
Non-operating Expense – Due to the delay in capital projects there has been a lower 
than expected capital contributions and related expense. 
 
Mr. Minnick thanked two members of the Finance and Audit Committee who met 
with him and DKMG, the airport’s airline lease consultant. Mr. Minnick said that it 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 8 
 
 

was very beneficial, and they laid out a timeline that is looking like they may have an 
agreement by January 1, 2019. 
 

C. Communications Events and Activity report 
Ms. Shelgh O’Kane briefed the Board on the enplanements activity report. Ms. 
O’Kane stated that for the month year over year they are down by 1%, but over the 5 
year average they are still well over, for the month of October, by 12% so all is 
looking pretty good. Year-to-date enplanements are up by 3.6%. 

 
VII. Discussion/Action Items 

   
A. Commemorative Air Force 
B. Solar update status 

Mr. Ben Peck briefed the Board. Mr. Peck stated that sometime ago, a company that 
was relatively new into the solar energy market in Mesa County, approached Mr. 
Achen about the airport possibly entering into a subscripted service for solar energy. 
Mr. Peck said that the airport’s code of conduct doesn’t allow staff to work one-on-
one with venders. Mr. Peck said that he reached out to Xcel, a neutral party, and they 
verified that there are only two companies that provide such service in the Xcel 
power, one being Oak Leaf Energy and Microgrid. Mr. Peck said that he talked to the 
City of Grand Junction, Kathy Portner told Mr. Peck that the City has the Appleton 
subscription and they see some savings. Mr. Peck said that he also reached out to the 
town of Palisade and they are currently working on building a solar farm at the 
Cameo site, about 10 to 13 acres. Mr. Peck said that he would like to move forward 
with talking to both companies but needs a little guidance since the code of conduct 
prevents him from doing so. 
 
Commissioner Benton said that the Compliance Committee intends to update the 
Code of Conduct but in the mean time they can give Mr. Peck a waiver. 
  

C. Airport project invoices, grants and updates 
 
Update presented by Eric Trinklein. 
  
East Terminal Apron Project 
All concrete is currently in place. Baggage cart ramp is scheduled to have curb and 
gutter installed tomorrow, and asphalt paving on Monday and Tuesday. A meeting to 
discuss the first two phases of concrete is scheduled in two weeks with all parties 

 
1. Mead & Hunt invoice – runway design 

This invoice is the progress billing for the Runway Design.   

Work to date on the project includes over 1400 hours in addition to sub 
consultants: 
· Site Geotechnical Investigations and reviews 
· Full airfield lighting report 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 9 
 
 

· 30% Design documents for relocation of 27 ¼ RD with City concurrence 
· FAA construction reimbursable agreements for the Remote Transmitter 
Receiver relocation. 
· Progress on the overall design including: 
- Evaluating flight obstructions  
- Optimizing grading to reduce cost and provide design connections to the 
existing airfield pavements. 
· Corp of Engineer permitting coordination resulting in a simplified process 
 
Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of completion and 
recommends paying the invoice.  
 

2. IHC invoice – east apron 
This invoice is the progress billing for work completed on the East Terminal 
Apron. Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice. Staff recommends that the Board 
approve the payment of IHC invoice No. 4, in the amount of $771,879.44. 

3. IHC change order – east apron 
The proposed pavement for the asphalt section of the baggage ramp will be 
revised to a state specification asphalt material. This change order also accounts 
for the thicker than anticipated asphalt section removal on the upper aircraft 
parking area. The revised pavement construction parameters were coordinated, 
reviewed and agreed upon by the FAA and Staff. Staff recommends to Board 
approve Change Order #3 to Interstate Highway Construction, Inc. (IHC). 
 

4. Grant application – Taxiway A rehabilitation  
The Airport Improvement Program (AIP) is continually coordinated with FAA 
and CDOT Aeronautics to provide a minimum five year plan. This project is 
included in the approved Airport Budget for 2018. 
  
The projects to be accomplished for the 2018 Airport Improvement Program 
(AIP) every year going forward are important steps to continuing a safe and 
efficient airfield/overall airport operation. 
  
Grant Application-Taxiway A 
The project included in this grant application is for design and construction of the 
Taxiway A Rehabilitation Project. 
 
Staff recommends the Board approve the submittal of the grant application and 
appoint the Executive Director as an authorized signatory and Project Manager to 
sign all necessary documents within the grant applications.  
  
 

5. Grant application - 27 ¼ Road 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 10 
 
 

27 ¼ Road connected with the Runway 11/29 Relocation. This project will 
relocate approximately 11,000 LF of 27 ¼ Road along the western edge of the 
airport property away from the existing and future Runway Protection Zone for 
existing Runway 11/29 and Future Runway 12/30. 
 
Staff recommends the Board approve the submittal of the grant application and 
the State grant application, and appoint the Executive Director as an authorized 
signatory and Project Manager to sign all necessary documents within the grant 
applications.   

 
6. Grant application – RTR relocation 

The project included in this grant application is for the Relocation of the remote 
transmitter / receiver (RTR). The facility located on airport property is owned and 
maintained by the FAA. FAA will design and construction of the new equipment. 
The airport will be responsible for bidding and construction administration to 
complete all site work and other non-government work items like foundations, 
antenna towers, electrical equipment, etc. 
 
Staff recommends the Board approve the submittal of the grant application and 
the State grant application, and appoint the Executive Director as an authorized 
signatory and Project Manager to sign all necessary documents within the grant 
applications.” 
 

Commissioner Brown moved to approve items 1through 6 under item C. Airport 
project invoices, grants and updates. Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote 
All Ayes.  

  
 

D. Minimum Standards Committee update      
Mr. Mark Papko, Airport Operations Manager, briefed the Board. Mr. Papko said that 
they selected Aviation Management Consulting Group to update and evaluate the 
airport’s minimum standards and potentially create a new document. Mr. Papko said 
that after the initial evaluations of their minimum standards the committee decided to 
go on the route of constructing a brand new minimum standards document. Mr. 
Papko thanked all of the tenants and stakeholders that were able to meet with the 
consultants and provide feedback. The Minimum Standards committee received their 
first deliverable, which is the expanded outline of the minimum standards update 
process. The expanded outline was used as a reference to visualize how the document 
will look and read, there is nothing of actual content in the expanded outline, it’s  
merely just a large table of contents. The committee is hoping to have the first draft of 
the minimum standards by the end of November or early December. Second or third 
draft will be the public draft, this first one will stay within the committee   
 

E. Executive Director Employment Agreement  
No discussion took place. This item was tabled until the next meeting. 



November 16, 2017 Minutes – Page 11 
 
 

  
VIII. Any other business which may come before the Board 

None. 
 

IX. Adjournment 
Commissioner Brown made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner Brabaek seconded. Voice 
Vote. All Ayes.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:26PM   
 

 
 

Rick Taggart, Board Chairman 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk to the Board 
 
 



November 28, 2017 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

 
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 

November 28, 2017 
 

SPECIAL BOARD MEETING  
Time: 5:15PM  

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 
Mr. Rick Taggart, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport Authority Board to order at 5:15 PM on November 28, 2017 in Grand Junction, 
Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

  
Mr. Mark Papko requested to add Fuel Farm Pavement Rehabilitation to the agenda. 
 
Commissioner Benton made a motion for the Board to approve the agenda with the 
added item. Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  
 

III. Commissioner Comments 
 

Commissioners Present: 
Rick Taggart, Chairman 
Tom Benton 
Chuck McDaniel 
Robin Brown 
Erling Brabaek 
Thaddeus Shrader 
Clay Tufly 
 
Airport Staff: 
Mark Achen 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk 
Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk 
Ty Minnick 
Eric Trinklein 
Ben Peck 
Mark Papko 
Shelagh O’Kane  

Other: 
Ryan Springer, Sequent 
Drew Armstrong, Finance & Audit 
Committee 
Kent Taylor, CAF 



November 28, 2017 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

Chairman Taggart commented and stated that he was not at the last meeting but has 
received emails on the issue of the fence and a reinstatement of the Security Solution 
Committee (SSC). Chairman Taggart stated that the SSC was dissolved by the former 
chairman, Steve Wood, just about a year ago. It was not dissolved by this Board. 
Chairman Taggart said to reinstate for the issues they are facing today, in his humble 
estimation, is not a good strategy for one basic reason. The discussions that need to take 
place, if there is any opening to discuss the fence and/or gates, has to take place with the 
FAA and TSA. Chairman Taggart said that the SSC is not cleared to have those 
conversations, nor will they be cleared to have those conversations. Those conversations 
will need to take place by senior management. Chairman Taggart said that if there is any 
opening, what-so-ever, that needs to be done by staff.   

 
 

IV. Citizens Comments 
 Kent Taylor, CAF 

Comment outline provided by Mr. Taylor. 
“Announcement 
The CAF Rocky Mountain wing is pleased to announce the placement of our 1945 
Grumman Avenger Torpedo Bomber on the National Register of Historic Structures, 
effecting November 13, 2017. 
 
Our TBM is only the sixth aircraft to be placed on the National Register, and is currently 
the one of two flying, and will soon be joined by a third that is in restoration and which 
may be flying soon. The other three places are strictly static displays in museum. 
 
We will be scheduling a celebration after the holidays, and hope that the Board and 
Airport staff will join us, along with their families.  
 
Request 
Mr. Taylor requested for the Board to reinstate an advisory committee to work with the 
manager.”    
 

V. Discussion/Action Items 
   

A.  ADK Executive Search invoice 
Mr. Minnick stated that this is the third and final instalment of the ADK contract, 
includes $12,000 plus travel expenses.  
 
Mr. Shrader asked if it was possible to keep some sort of retainage until they are 
absolutely done with the process of hiring the new Executive. 
 
Mr. Minnick said that they could but it wasn’t part of the contract. Mr. Minnick asked 
if the board would like to hold on to the invoice until the December 19th board 
meeting to see if things are wrapped up.  
 



November 28, 2017 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to table the approval of ADK search 
invoice to the December 19th board meeting. Commissioner Brown seconded. Voice 
Vote. All Ayes.  
 

B. Accounting software purchase 
Mr. Minnick briefed the Board. Mr. Minnick said that back in August he discussed 
with the audit committee the issues that they are having with their current software, 
Caselle. Mr. Minnick stated that it’s a government software that is poor performing 
and continues to get worse. Mr. Minnick said that in this procurement they 
outsourced EKS&H, who is the airport’s audit firm, and they have a division that put 
out a request for information from a handful of software companies and they received 
three bids back. Mr. Minnick said that he and Ms. Shelagh O’Kane did 
demonstrations with each of them. Mr. Minnick stated that they did a demo with Sage 
Intacct which seemed to fit their needs and it’s priced in the middle of the three so 
that is the one they are selecting.  
 
Further discussion took place about the software being cloud based.  
 
Commissioner McDaniel stated that he finds it troubling that there are only two users. 
Commissioner McDaniel feels that there should be one more user for oversight 
purposes.  
 
Mr. Minnick said that they could get more user licenses, they are expensive.  
 
Other discussion took place in regards to the airport owning the data without an 
additional fee if there is ever a separation. More information is needed. 
 
Commissioner Tufly made a motion to move forward with the question of the data 
being answered to their satisfaction that the airport will own the data. Commissioner 
Brown seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  
   

C. Fuel Farm Pavement Rehabilitation 
 
Mr. Papko briefed the Board. Mr. Papko stated that this is in regards to their airfield 
fuel farm where they currently have about 2,500sq. ft. of asphalt that is failing. Mr. 
Papko said that they are looking to complete concrete repair, so they would remove 
the asphalt and put down new concrete. This will be done in two phases in order to 
keep the fuel farm up and running during construction. Mr. Papko said that they 
received two bids, one from More Storage and one from Adcock Concrete. At the low 
end they are at $20,882 and that is with staff removing the current asphalt and them 
doing all of the concrete work, and on the high end they are at $26,166 and that is 
with the contractor doing everything. Mr. Papko said that he isn’t looking for 
approval of any one invoice, but asking for approval up to the amount of $26,166 but 
pending more conversations and negotiations with the contactors and also to evaluate 
and to determine if they can remove the asphalt in house. 
 



November 28, 2017 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

Commissioner Brown moved for the Board to approve up to $26,166 for the removal 
and replacement of asphalt/concrete. Commissioner Benton seconded. Voice Vote. All 
Ayes.   
  

VI. Executive Session 
As required by the Colorado Open Meetings Law, a tape recording is being made of 
our discussions now and during the executive session. 
 
All members of the Board are present except 
           .  
There is a quorum present. 
 
Executive Session is for the purpose of discussing personnel matters except if the 
employee who is the subject of the session has requested an open meeting, or if the 
personnel matter involves more than one employee, all of the employees have 
requested an open meeting as authorized by C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(f) and 
For the purpose of determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to 
negotiations; developing strategy for negotiations; and instructing negotiators as 
authorized by C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e) more specifically for the position of 
Executive Director.  
As well as, to conference with the attorney for the Board for the purposes of 
receiving legal advice on specific legal questions relating to pending or threatened 
litigation C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b). 
 
Each participant must confine his or her discussion to these stated topics of the 
executive session.  No formal action may occur in the executive session. 
 
If at any point in the executive session any participant believes that the discussion is 
going outside the proper scope of the executive session, please interrupt the 
discussion and make an objection. 
 
Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to go into Executive Session to discuss 
security details and applications for airport manager per the C.R.S. previously 
stated and also discussing pending threatened litigation. We will vote on this 
motion by a roll call vote. Please state your name and your vote. Commissioner 
Brabaek: Aye, Commissioner McDaniel: Aye, Commissioner Tufly: Aye, 
Commissioner Shrader Aye, Commissioner Brown: Aye, Commissioner Benton: 
Aye, Chairman Taggart: Aye. 6:01PM  

 
VII. Adjournment and Move into Open Session 7:38PM 

A. Executive Director Employment Agreement 
No discussion & no action. 
 

Commissioner Benton made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner McDaniel seconded. 
Voice Vote. All Ayes.  
 



November 28, 2017 Minutes – Page 5 
 
 

Meeting adjourned at 7:38PM   
 

 
 

Rick Taggart, Board Chairman 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk to the Board 
 
 



December 5, 2017 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

 
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 
December 5, 2017 

 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING  
Time: 5:15PM  

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 
Mr. Rick Taggart, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport Authority Board to order at 5:19 PM on December 5, 2017 in Grand Junction, 
Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

  
Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to approve the agenda. Commissioner Brown 
seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 
 

III. Citizens Comments 
 
Darshann Ruckman, Clarion Inn 
Ms. Ruckman stated that she wanted to ask the board a couple of questions concerning 
the new rate increase for the trip fees being imposed or suggested to the hotels. Ms. 
Ruckman stated that they have worked for years, hand-in-hand with the airport, it is a 

Commissioners Present: 
Rick Taggart, Chairman 
Tom Benton 
Chuck McDaniel 
Robin Brown 
Erling Brabaek 
Thaddeus Shrader 
 
Airport Staff: 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk 
Ben Peck 
Shelagh O’Kane  

Other: 
 Sharah Russell, Courtyard 
Theresa Honat, Residence 
Jeff Soner, Holliday Inn & Suites 
Guy Parker, Citizen 
Doug Russo, Doubletree 
 



December 5, 2017 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

very important part of their business and service that they are able to do this for their 
guests, as a service provider she looks at this as they are the airport’s customers. Ms. 
Ruckman said that when this was all put together, she wonders what their percentage is 
that they are paying as hoteliers right now compared to the cab/bus companies. Ms. 
Ruckman said that they pay a per month fee based on their room count and the cab 
companies pay a percentage which they tack right on top of their fee. Ms. Ruckman 
asked the board if any of them knew what percentage of the current trip fee revenue that 
is coming in that the hoteliers pay. 
 
Chairman Taggart stated that they do not have their budget books with them tonight, they 
staff can get that information to her. 
 
Ms. Ruckman stated that she went through and read the meetings for the last year or so 
and this was brought up in November 2016 and it was mentioned that it would be brought 
to the board again the next month and it wasn’t mentioned again until October 2017 and 
it was basically just change one term. Ms. Ruckman said that she would like the board to 
know that they are all team players but they want to be part of this. Ms. Ruckman stated 
that Mr. Minnick mentioned in the minutes that it evens out the playing field but most of 
the teams aren’t invited to the game.  
 
Sharah Russell, Courtyard by Marriott 
Ms. Russel stated that they are all here for the same thing and they would just like to be 
heard and wants the board to know that they do not agree with the major increase, 2000% 
increase from one year to the next. Ms. Russell said that they are not on board and further 
work needs to be done. 
 
Theresa Honat, Residence Inn 
Ms. Honat stated that she agrees with what has already been said.  
 
Doug Russo, Doubletree by Hilton 
Mr. Russo stated that he would like to add that this is not a level playing field with Uber 
or the taxi as this is a complementary shuttle that the cost of $7 per trip would directly 
affect their bottom line. Mr. Russo said that where the Taxi’s or Uber might be able to 
charge their customer that price, they are not able to. Mr. Russo said that this was not 
budgeted and was not discussed and there is no way they would authorize this and there 
are not enough shuttles or transportation. Mr. Russo stated that they strongly encourage 
this not to pass, they all agree that some increase needs to happen, but to go from $57 a 
month to over $1,500 a month is not acceptable.  
 
Commissioner Benton commented and said that he appreciates all of the members of the 
Horizon Dr. hotel associations that were at a meeting held earlier in the month. 
Commissioner Benton stated that it’s clear that the messaging process was limited and 
they need to do a better job on that. Commissioner Benton said that Mr. Minnick is 
looking to gather better data and get a true head count per vehicle so they can determine 
different ways to structure a rate/fee that does help the airport keep their grounds and 



December 5, 2017 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

asphalt in place and a number of other things that are impacted by trips to the airport. 
They will be in a 90 day process.  
 
Chairman Taggart stated that Mr. Minnick communicated with him just before the 
meeting, and he can tell the hotel folks that on behalf of Mr. Minnick and Mr. Achen, 
there was no intention that they wanted to hit them with a 2000% increase. That was 
never the intention. Chairman Taggart asked for them to work with the airport to get the 
count to determine if this is the right approach.   
 

IV. Discussion/Action Items 
   

A.  Executive Director Selection  
Board members reviewed the final employment agreement between the Airport 
Authority and Angela Padalecki who is one of two finalist. 
 
Chairman Taggart stated that Ms. Padalecki has been involved in reviewing the 
document and the changes that have occurred over the past two to three weeks, and 
she has accepted this agreement. 
 
Commissioner McDaniel commented. 
“I have made my concerns about the selection of the Executive Director known in our 
executive sessions, but I feel it is necessary to put my opinion about this matter in the 
public record. 
 
I cannot support employing Ms. Padalecki as Executive Director.  Principally, I 
believe that Ms. Padalecki lacks sufficient experience to be the chief executive of the 
airport.  Her aviation experience consists of 4 ½ years at Denver International.  Of 
that 4 ½ years, 2 ½ years were spent in the finance department as analyst and advisor 
to the CFO and, more recently, 2 years as director of airline affairs.  Her formal 
training is in economics and finance.  She has almost no airport operations 
experience.  She has never been a chief executive or top manager. 
 
In contrast, the other candidate the board considered has 24 years of airport 
experience, including all phases of airport operations, has a degree in Aeronautical 
Studies and is currently an airport manager. 
 
I also believe that the proposed compensation is excessive, particularly given Ms. 
Padalecki’s experience.  We advertised the position at a salary of $160,000.  The 
current draft of the agreement has annual cash compensation of $182,800.  In 
comparison, the City Manager’s compensation is $180,000 and the County 
Administrator makes $131,000.  Each of those managers has considerable experience 
in public administration.   
 
The longevity bonus in the agreement of 14.25% of salary lasts for five years.  That is 
longer than the term of any of the commissioners now serving. 
 



December 5, 2017 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

Also, the moving and transition expenses allowance of $15,000 for Ms. Padalecki is 
twice the amount received by the City Manager. 
 
In summary, I would not employ Ms. Padalecki as Executive Director, nor would I 
compensate her at the proposed level if she were employed. 
 
And one final word, I earnestly hope I am wrong about this.” 
 
Commissioner Brabaek said that he believes that in history with the past executive 
directors, they were all managers and some say they did a fine jobs and others say 
they did not. Commissioner Brabaek said that it is okay in his book for the 
compensation they are offering due to the fact that they are really trying to keep 
someone here and it’s important with this airport’s history. Commissioner Brabaek 
commented that her background brings much more than just an executive director and 
that can out way the lack of executive director experience because they have fine staff 
that runs the airport. Commissioner Brabaek stated that he supports the contract and 
Ms. Padalecki. 

  
Commissioner Shrader stated that she is a little bit less experienced than some of the 
other applicants, however, as they dove into the details throughout the interviews it 
became very apparent to him that Ms. Padalecki displayed a really broad sense and 
understanding how to be a community developer and an economic driver. 
Commissioner Shrader said that for him that was an extremely important. 
Commissioner Shrader stated that he looked at her background in finance and her 
professional career having stemmed from being in public service throughout, for him, 
were very important points that swayed him to be in favor of her joining the team and 
acting as the Director of the airport. 
 
Commissioner Brown stated that she respects Commissioner McDaniel’s comments 
and opinion. Commissioner Brown added that the last three airport directors had 
looked great on paper and haven’t worked out, so she thinks it’s okay to take a risk on 
some of the less experience especially because she has a lot of faith in the airport staff 
that they already have and they will help Ms. Padalecki navigate what she doesn’t 
know. 
 
Commissioner Benton stated that they were very fortunate to have 46 applicants 
narrowed down to three. The other finalist was qualified as a “safe candidate”, but 
Ms. Padalecki brings a number of resources that are very important such as an 
extremely effective communicator, person who has the capacity to recognize both the 
spoken and unspoken aspects in conversations, very perceptive and very sharp. 
Commissioner Benton stated that he supports Ms. Padalecki for Executive Director as 
well as the contract. 
 
Chairman Taggart said that they have members of staff that are very good at what 
they do so he was never really interested in finding a candidate with significant value 
and repeating the strengths they already have. Chairman Taggart said that he agrees 



December 5, 2017 Minutes – Page 5 
 
 

with Commissioner McDaniel, Ms. Padalecki is lacking on the operations side but he 
would like to trust that their staff in place today, is very capable of doing that. They 
can help her on that side of the business and she can help them in terms of how to 
develop the airport. 
 
Commissioner Brown made a motion for the Board to approve the employment 
agreement as written. Commissioner Brabaek seconded. Roll Call Vote. 
Commissioner Brabaek: Aye, Commissioner Shrader: Aye, Commissioner Benton: 
Aye, Commissioner Brown: Aye, Commissioner McDaniel: No, Chairman Taggart: 
Aye.  
 

V. Adjournment and Move into Open Session 7:38PM 
 
Commissioner Shrader made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner Brown seconded. Voice 
Vote. All Ayes.  
 
Meeting adjourned at 5:54PM   
 

 
 

Rick Taggart, Board Chairman 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk to the Board 
 
 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  G4S Invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the Board authorize the payment of G4S 
Invoice 8551940 for the amount of $11,871.93 

LAST ACTION: Approved October Invoice. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the monthly billing for November 2017 for the 
ongoing monthly costs for security guard services in the 
Terminal. This cost is recovered from signatory air-carriers.  
 
The invoice exceeds $10,000, therefore requiring Board approval. 
 
Staff has verified the amount and the scope of work has been 
completed. 

FISCAL IMPACT: $11,871.93 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: G4S Invoice 8551940 

STAFF CONTACT: Chance Ballegeer 
Email: cballegeer@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8586 
 

 
 
 







Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  DKMG invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve DKMG invoice 98 in the 
amount of $10,732.64 

DISCUSSION: In October 2017 the board engaged DKMG for airline lease 
consulting services.  The attached invoice is within the scope of 
work and part of the compensation structure that was agreed to in 
the contract. 

FISCAL IMPACT: $10,732.64 

ATTACHMENTS: Invoice 98 

STAFF CONTACT: Ty Minnick 
tminnick@gjairport.com 
970-248-8593 
 

 
 
 
  

 



Bill To:
Ty Minnick
Finance Director
2828 Walker Field Drive
Grand Junction, CO 81506

Invoice

Item Description Hours Rate Amount
Julie Mattlin, Labor Develop financial model and travel to GJT 23 250.00 5,750.00
Rhona DiCamillo, Labor Attend kick off meeting at GJT 10 250.00 2,500.00

8,250.00

Airfare 11-13 GJT Trip JAM - Airfare 1 1,359.80 1,359.80
Lodging 11-13 GJT Trip JAM - Hotel 1 252.92 252.92
Mileage 11-13 GJT Trip JAM - Mileage 1 26.75 26.75
Other 11-13 GJT Trip JAM - Tips 1 8.00 8.00
Meals & Entertainment 11-13 GJT Trip JAM - Meals 1 227.39 227.39

1,874.86

Airfare 11-14 GJT Trip RKD - Airfare 1 366.60 366.60
Lodging 11-13 GJT Trip RKD - Hotel 1 127.72 127.72
Meals & Entertainment 11-13 GJT Trip RKD - Meals 1 21.15 21.15
Meals & Entertainment 11-13 GJT Trip RKD - Meals 1 12.31 12.31
Parking 11-13 GJT Trip RKD - Parking 1 80.00 80.00

607.78

$10,732.64

Date
12/05/17

Invoice No.
98

Total

Project

GJT Airline Neg-Task 1 Fixed Fee

750 12th Street
Wilmette IL 60091

Budget $40,000.00
Invoiced to Date $8,250.00

Remaining Balance $31,750.00

$10,732.64

Budget-Labor Only

Invoiced to date-Labor Only

Remaining Balance -Labor Only



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Veoci (Grey Wall) 

 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve invoice 3497 to Veoci 

 

DISCUSSION: Veoci was approved as the airports Computerized Maintenance 

Management System (CMMS) at the December 2015 regular board 

meeting. The board approved the CMMS contract for one year with 

four one year options.  The board approved the 2018 budget that 

included the $25,000 annual payment to Veoci. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 

$25,000 – amount is included in the 2018 budget. 

ATTACHMENTS: Invoice number 3497 to Veoci. 

STAFFCONTACT: Ty Minnick 

tminnick@gjairport.com 

970-248-8593 

 

  

mailto:tminnick@gjairport.com


Invoice Date Invoice No. 

2017-Nov-06 3497

Bill To Ship To 

 Grand Junction Regional Airport  Grand Junction Regional Airport

 Ty Minnick  Ty Minnick

 800 Eagle Drive  800 Eagle Drive

  

 Grand Junction CO 81506  USA  Grand Junction CO  81506  USA

Organization Name Sales Representative Ship Date 

 GJT - Grand Junction Regional Airport  Vincent  2017-Nov-06

Order No. Terms Balance Due Date Start Date End Date 

 GWS772624  NET 30  2017-Dec-27 2018-Jan-01  2018-Dec-31

Quantity Description Tax % Tax $ Unit Price $ Total $ 

1   Veoci SaaS Licensing   0.00  $25,000.00  $25,000.00

Additional Notes 

 

 

 Grey Wall Software LLC 
 195 Church Street, 14th Floor 
 New Haven, CT 06510 
 203.782.5944 | www.veoci.com

Subtotal $25,000.00

Tax $0.00

Balance Due $25,000.00

Please make checks out to Grey Wall Software LLC.
For credit card Payments, please contact us.
Wire transfer Instructions: Beneficiary: Grey Wall Software, LLC. 129 Church Street, Suite 321, New Haven, CT 06510, USA
Account Number: 100011019631. Bank: Webster Bank. 80 Elm Street, New Haven, CT 06510
SWIFT BIC: WENAUS31XX. ABA/Routing Number: 211170101

https://veoci.com/veoci/1/users/profile/147572














NOVEMBER 2017 PERFORMANCE 

 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

 

Assets – Cash is consistent with prior year.  The increase in accounts receivable is a result of payments due from 

FAA for AIP projects 54, 55 and 56 for a total of approximately $925,000.  Project costs have been submitted for 

reimbursement and have been getting paid in a timely manner. 

 

Liabilities – The accounts payable balance was reduced in February for the payment for approximately $520,000 

due to the FAA, along with the payments to Jviation and Armstrong. 

 

Operating Revenue – Ahead of budget and prior year.  Airline revenue year to date of approximately $1,650,000 

and combined parking and rental cars of $2,460,000. Total operating revenue for 2018 to $5,833,000 versus 

$5,678,000 for 2017, approximately $155,000 ahead of prior year. 

 

Operating Expense – The total operating expense is $300,000 ahead of budget and $140,000 ahead of prior year.  

The majority of the variance is effected by the cost savings from legal fees incurred in 2016.  Resulting in an 

operating gain of $2,317,000 year‐to‐date versus $2,019,000 prior year, a net gain of approximately $300,000 over 

prior year. 

 

Non‐operating Expense – The budget expected significant expense in 2018 related to the passenger boarding 

bridge and terminal renovations.  Due to the delay in these projects there has been a lower than expense.  



11/30/2017 12/31/2016

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,107,031           8,302,897           
Accounts receivable & prepaid expense 1,705,273           526,874              

Total current assets 9,812,304           8,829,771           

Restricted assets
Bond project & restricted cash 11,916,358         11,437,126         
Pension deferred outflow 850,586              850,586              
Capital assets, net 58,240,193         58,240,193         
Total non-current assets 71,007,137         70,527,905         

Total assets 80,819,441         79,357,676         

Current liabilities
Accounts payable & accrued expenses 2,054,342           1,781,561           
Current portion of note payable 435,932              435,932              
Current portion of bonds payable 191,791              836,791              

Total current liabilities 2,682,065           3,054,284           

Non-current liabilities
Net pension liability 2,837,459           2,837,459           
Pension deferred inflow 74,342                74,342                
Note payable, net of current portion 678,832              678,832              
Bonds payable, net of current portion 20,832,478         20,832,478         

Total non-current liabilities 24,423,111         24,423,111         
Total liabilities 27,105,176         27,477,395         

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 36,101,160         35,456,160         
Restricted for debt service and capital assets 11,318,701         10,748,391         
Unrestricted 6,294,404           5,675,730           

Total net position 53,714,265         51,880,281         
Total liabilities and net position 80,819,441         79,357,676         

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Statements of Net Position

Unaudited - subject to change



Actual Budget Actual Actual Budget Actual
11/30/2017 11/30/2017 11/30/2016 11/30/2017 11/30/2017 11/30/2016

Operating revenue
Aeronautical revenue

Passenger airline revenue
Passenger airline landing fees 487,116        446,900          465,111        39,520          38,900             37,496          
Terminal rent 1,086,868     1,083,500       1,083,357     98,487          98,500             98,487          
Other (boarding bridge) 82,425          69,000            72,205          7,075            12,000             7,780            

Total passenger airline revenue 1,656,409     1,599,400       1,620,673     145,082        149,400          143,763        

Non-passenger airline revenue
Non-passenger landing fees 133,184        83,700            95,326          11,444          6,400               7,742            
Cargo and hangar rentals 46,886          46,200            46,411          4,287            4,200               4,219            
Fuel tax & flowage fees 585,334        668,700          622,732        48,197          54,600             48,711          
Other (ramp parking, rapid refuel) 2,400            11,000            3,630            210               1,000               180               

Total non-passenger airline revenue 767,804        809,600          768,099        64,138          66,200             60,852          

Total aeronautical revenue 2,424,213     2,409,000       2,388,772     209,220        215,600          204,615        

Non-aeronautical revenue
Land and building leases 522,459        522,800          520,055        45,886          45,700             45,283          
Terminal - restaurant & retail 115,458        75,900            85,856          11,787          6,900               11,743          
Terminal - other 234,254        174,900          224,317        21,296          15,900             21,844          
Rental cars 1,127,124     1,083,300       1,074,555     112,592        75,600             107,020        
Parking and ground transportation 1,332,712     1,275,500       1,297,129     149,284        128,700          152,202        
Other (security fee, overtime fee, etc) 77,162          68,200            87,423          5,166            6,200               10,486          

Total non-aeronautical revenue 3,409,169     3,200,600       3,289,335     346,011        279,000          348,579        

Total operating revenues 5,833,382     5,609,600       5,678,107     555,231        494,600          553,194        

Operating expenses
Personnel compensation and benefits 1,794,177     1,961,625       1,647,910     158,583        163,261          148,613        
Communications and utilities 267,068        297,552          262,878        19,688          30,464             20,709          
Supplies and materials 391,741        412,345          384,812        39,244          36,867             48,171          
Contract services 483,789        572,526          816,103        21,318          38,241             45,590          
Repairs & maintenance 240,502        264,792          380,600        18,514          18,265             34,968          
Insurance 85,950          85,378            83,439          7,993            7,898               7,677            
Other (travel, marketing, air service, etc) 253,409        236,470          83,423          37,605          21,923             13,534          

Total operating expenses 3,516,636     3,830,688       3,659,165     302,945        316,919          319,262        

Operating gain (loss) 2,316,746     1,778,912       2,018,942     252,286        177,681          233,932        

Non-operating revenues (expenses)
Passenger facility charges 819,440        814,000          817,262        76,137          68,000             75,895          
Interest income 82,875          17,600            25,615          3,199            1,600               2,481            
Interest expense (817,267)       (817,266)        (644,719)       (73,918)         (73,918)           (58,239)         
Customer facility charges 666,151        520,000          656,123        78,712          44,000             76,940          
Capital contributions 4,258,751     8,361,572       2,204,707     949,614        2,000,000       870,802        
Capital expenditure (4,904,606)   (20,596,445)   (2,861,172)   (1,106,490)   (13,336,500)    (1,081,045)   
Debt principal payments (435,932)       (435,932)        (423,096)       (110,220)       (110,220)         (106,984)       
Other (Legal Settlement) (151,910)       -                  (569,270)       -                -                  (569,270)       

Total non-operating revenue (482,498)       (12,136,471)   (794,550)       (182,966)       (11,407,038)    (789,420)       

Excess of revenues over (under) expense 1,834,248     (10,357,559)   1,224,392     69,320          (11,229,357)    (555,488)       

YEAR TO DATE MONTH

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Statements of Changes in Net Position

Unaudited - subject to change



GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT ACTIVITY REPORT
Report Date:

PY Comparison Date:
. November, 2017

PERCENT PERCENT
2016 2017 CHANGE 2016 2017 CHANGE

8,243                        8,542       3.63% 89,989        96,485        7.22%
1,252                        1,250       -0.16% 16,199        15,891        -1.90%
5,542                        5,554       0.22% 64,513        62,104        -3.73%
3,408                        3,696       8.45% 36,618        39,827        8.76%

509                           720          41.45% 6,391          6,903          8.01%
-                            -           N/A -              864             N/A
-                            -           N/A -              80               N/A

18,954                19,762  4.26% 214,316  222,252  3.70%
23,678                23,493  -0.78% 279,137  278,427  -0.25%

PASSENGER DEPLANEMENTS: 2016 2017 CHANGE 2016 2017 CHANGE

8,006                        8,365       4.48% 88,815        94,668        6.59%
1,194                        1,167       -2.26% 15,992        15,586        -2.54%
4,449                        5,364       20.57% 42,568        64,308        51.07%
3,361                        3,684       9.61% 36,602        39,965        9.19%

-                            682          N/A -              6,339          N/A
-                            -           N/A -              718             N/A
-                            -           N/A -              80               N/A

17,010                19,262  13.24% 184,183  221,664  20.35%
**2016 Deplanement data is incomplete**

35,964                39,024  8.51% 398,499  443,916  11.40%

CHANGE IN
PERCENT

75.42% 84.24% 8.82% 74.64% 83.72% 12.16%
83.80% 83.67% -0.13% 82.70% 80.83% -2.26%
90.56% 90.97% 0.42% 76.91% 78.94% 2.64%
82.12% 88.00% 5.88% 80.75% 80.14% -0.75%
51.73% 46.33% -5.40% 65.51% 45.56% -30.45%
80.05% 84.12% 4.07% 76.78% 79.82% 3.97%

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT ACTIVITY REPORT

November 30, 2017
PERCENT PERCENT

AIR FREIGHT ON (LBS): 2016 2017 CHANGE 2016 2017 CHANGE

American 131                           833          535.88% 9,279          8,552          -7.83%
FedEx 229,174                    248,796   8.56% 2,936,430   3,101,054   5.61%
KEY LIME AIR 26,842                      26,932     0.34% -              382,003      N/A
United -                            1,852       N/A -              11,345        N/A
Delta -                            260          N/A -              2,329          N/A

TOTAL FREIGHT ON 256,147                    278,673   8.79% 3,272,299   3,505,283   7.12%

AIR FREIGHT OFF (LBS):

American 331                           1,156       249.24% 4,753          8,622          81.40%
FedEx 455,158                    384,642   -15.49% 5,473,036   5,085,123   -7.09%
KEY LIME AIR 63,195                      76,010     20.28% -              744,790      N/A
United -                            441          N/A -              4,028          N/A
Delta -                            108          N/A -              3,467          N/A

TOTAL FREIGHT OFF 518,684                    462,357   -10.86% 6,143,980   5,846,030   -4.85%

TOTAL AIR FREIGHT 774,831                    741,030   -4.36% 9,416,279   9,351,313   -0.69%

CURRENT MONTH YEAR-TO-DATE

YEAR-TO-DATECURRENT MONTH

YEAR-TO-DATECURRENT MONTH

November 30, 2017
November 30, 2016

AMERICAN (TOTAL)
ALLEGIANT

DENVER AIR CONNECTION (TOTAL)
SWIFT AIR (TOTAL)
SunCountry Charter
TOTAL ENPLANEMENTS
TOTAL SEAT CAPACITY

PASSENGER ENPLANEMENTS:
AMERICAN (TOTAL)
ALLEGIANT (TOTAL)
UNITED (TOTAL)
DELTA (TOTAL)

GJT TOTAL

LOAD FACTOR:(OUTBOUND ONLY)

TOTAL DEPLANEMENTS

TOTAL PASSENGERS

DENVER AIR CONNECTION (TOTAL)

AMERICAN (TOTAL)
ALLEGIANT
UNITED (TOTAL)
DELTA (TOTAL)

UNITED (TOTAL)
DELTA (TOTAL)
DENVER AIR CONNECTION (TOTAL)
SWIFT AIR (TOTAL)
SunCountry Charter



Enplanements and Activity Report 

16,197 15,965 

18,533 

17,488 

19,795 

21,360 

21,497 

20,335 

21,415 

22,777 

18,954 

18,356 

17,779 16,563 

19,540 

19,985 

21,632 

22,156 

21,762 

19,860 
20,702 

22,511 
19,762 

 13,000

 15,000

 17,000

 19,000

 21,000

 23,000

 25,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Enplanements 
2016 vs 2017

2016

2017



Enplanements and Activity Report 

-6.0%
-4.0%
-2.0%
0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%

10.0%
12.0%
14.0%
16.0%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Enplanements
Current Year vs Prior Year Variance

Month Year

2016 2017 Passengers Percent
November 18,954          19,762          808 4.3%
YTD 214,316 222,252 7,936 3.7%

Variance

 13,000

 15,000

 17,000

 19,000

 21,000

 23,000

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

En
pl

an
em

en
ts

Enplanements 
Current Year vs 5 Year Average

2017 Actual 5 Year Average

5 Year Avg 2017 Passengers Percent
November 17,472 19,762 2,290 13.1%
YTD 203,846 222,252 18,406 9.0%

Variance


cost

						2007		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013		2014		2015

		January		Enplanements		13,545		14,656		16,033		15,727		16,455		16,159		16,967		18,084		15,372		495.8709677419		16,297

				Airline cost		72,844		79,314		109,687		113,732		126,836		132,856		152,062		148,120		142,225

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.38		$   5.41		$   6.84		$   7.23		$   7.71		$   8.22		$   8.96		$   8.19		$   9.25



		February		Enplanements		12,059		13,149		14,953		14,432		14,126		15,409		14,628		16,015		13,904		496.5714285714		14,673

				Airline cost		72,294		71,106		106,377		111,832		125,055		129,168		138,156		142,714

				Cost per enplanement		$   6.00		$   5.41		$   7.11		$   7.75		$   8.85		$   8.38		$   9.44		$   8.91



		March		Enplanements		13,593		14,166		18,692		17,401		17,739		18,054		16,871		18,073

				Airline cost		75,259		75,297		124,592		115,807		130,132		132,121		137,740		145,538

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.54		$   5.32		$   6.67		$   6.66		$   7.34		$   7.32		$   8.16		$   8.05



		April		Enplanements		13,517		14,715		17,861		17,667		17,298		17,896		17,258		17,145

				Airline cost		72,883		78,108		120,222		120,436		126,120		128,393		138,058		140,938

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.39		$   5.31		$   6.73		$   6.82		$   7.29		$   7.17		$   8.00		$   8.22



		May		Enplanements		15,604		21,067		21,631		19,310		20,700		19,942		19,845		19,872

				Airline cost		81,040		81,319		121,199		123,334		130,717		132,076		138,456		145,066

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.19		$   3.86		$   5.60		$   6.39		$   6.31		$   6.62		$   6.98		$   7.30



		June		Enplanements		15,062		19,449		22,379		19,023		20,493		20,153		19,202		19,142

				Airline cost		76,122		74,910		121,360		124,331		129,518		136,913		143,846		143,583

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.05		$   3.85		$   5.42		$   6.54		$   6.32		$   6.79		$   7.49		$   7.50



		July		Enplanements		15,141		20,533		24,069		19,363		20,981		20,947		20,075		19,613

				Airline cost		72,207		82,724		123,757		122,211		131,028		134,970		146,679		148,882

				Cost per enplanement		$   4.77		$   4.03		$   5.14		$   6.31		$   6.25		$   6.44		$   7.31		$   7.59



		August		Enplanements		14,661		20,001		23,284		20,268		19,546		19,813		18,259		18,643

				Airline cost		81,266		108,991		127,148		120,996		129,964		131,597		144,458		147,834

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.54		$   5.45		$   5.46		$   5.97		$   6.65		$   6.64		$   7.91		$   7.93



		September		Enplanements		14,406		19,288		19,788		20,718		19,552		18,619		18,856		19,247

				Airline cost		75,962		105,217		114,110		119,701		124,279		127,437		142,571		139,763

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.27		$   5.46		$   5.77		$   5.78		$   6.36		$   6.84		$   7.56		$   7.26



		October		Enplanements		14,813		20,460		18,693		20,756		19,265		19,101		19,787		19,148

				Airline cost		72,677		107,746		112,156		124,927		125,561		127,270		144,431		140,077

				Cost per enplanement		$   4.91		$   5.27		$   6.00		$   6.02		$   6.52		$   6.66		$   7.30		$   7.32



		November		Enplanements		14,008		17,305		16,719		18,386		17,585		17,025		17,104		16,768

				Airline cost		71,141		103,471		110,091		122,934		119,792		126,228		138,673		136,598

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.08		$   5.98		$   6.58		$   6.69		$   6.81		$   7.41		$   8.11		$   8.15



		December		Enplanements		14,427		19,843		17,514		18,775		18,356		16,525		18,832		17,502

				Airline cost		76,823		115,730		112,449		122,682		126,946		130,674		142,319		156,452

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.32		$   5.83		$   6.42		$   6.53		$   6.92		$   7.91		$   7.56		$   8.94



		TOTAL		Enplanements		170,836		214,632		231,616		221,826		222,096		219,643		217,684		219,252						220,964

				Airline cost		900,520		1,083,932		1,403,149		1,442,923		1,525,947		1,569,702		1,707,449		1,735,564

				Cost per enplanement		$   5.27		$   5.05		$   6.06		$   6.50		$   6.87		$   7.15		$   7.84		$   7.92



						YEAR TO DATE

						12/31/07		12/31/08		12/31/09		12/31/10		12/31/11		12/31/12		12/31/13		12/31/14		8/31/15



		1-41-100		LANDING FEES - SKYWEST (DL)		59,349		51,358		63,835		65,271		56,651		54,216		60,560		53,594		- 0

		1-41-105		LANDING FEES - SKYWEST (UA)		43,925		55,967		60,968		146,663		189,845		170,786		185,015		175,640		- 0

		1-41-110		LANDING FEES - MESA AIRLINES		83,898		87,649		125,966		41,159		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-41-135		LANDING FEES - MISC. CARRIERS		19,202		23,188		14,532		22,050		11,656		9,849		21,843		17,032		- 0

		1-41-145		LANDING FEES - KEY LIME AIR		47,449		47,235		38,213		28,387		33,320		34,238		31,145		32,780		- 0

		1-41-155		LANDING FEES - ALLEGIANT		15,009		15,045		37,170		38,286		38,954		38,892		31,694		29,644		- 0

		1-41-160		LANDING FEES - AMERICAN EAGLE		- 0		- 0		- 0		30,268		55,738		54,486		63,516		62,471		- 0

		1-41-165		LANDING FEES-US AIRWAYS		- 0		- 0		- 0		32,113		55,780		73,683		85,385		77,997		- 0

		1-42-135		TERMINAL USAGE - OTHER AIRLINE		682		750		770		777		784		807		828		838		- 0

		1-42-200		TERMINAL RENT - MESA AIRLINES		38,354		38,354		51,220		10,681		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-205		TERMINAL RENT - GREAT LAKES		21,243		7,081		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-210		TERMINAL RENT - SKYWEST (DL)		8,598		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-215		TERMINAL RENT - SKYWEST (UA)		68,564		68,564		76,442		84,320		88,858		91,968		95,205		96,157		- 0

		1-42-220		TERMINAL RENT - THUNDER MTN		10,349		10,349		4,312		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-225		TERMINAL RENT - ALLEGIANT AIR		13,931		13,931		17,029		19,456		19,796		20,489		21,210		21,422		- 0

		1-42-230		TERMINAL RENT - AMERICAN EAGLE		- 0		- 0		- 0		31,351		45,302		46,629		53,591		48,753		- 0

		1-42-250		TERM. RENT-DENVER AIR		- 0		- 0		7,067		15,743		16,590		17,171		17,775		17,953		- 0

		1-42-265		TERMINAL RENT - US AIRWAYS		- 0		- 0		- 0		35,923		30,688		31,762		32,880		33,209		- 0

		1-42-305		SHARED SPACE - SKYWEST (DL)		75,043		67,742		92,415		98,206		86,747		85,323		86,893		87,876		- 0

		1-42-315		SHARED SPACE - SKYWEST (UA)		67,818		75,684		77,145		186,955		252,882		249,658		250,925		227,207		- 0

		1-42-320		SHARED SPACE - MISC. CARRIERS		3,284		3,258		4,465		4,358		1,718		893		4,814		1,156		- 0

		1-42-325		SHARED SPACE - MESA AIRLINES		106,425		117,636		176,640		70,879		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-330		SHARED SPACE - ALLEGIANT		22,636		25,097		68,724		73,156		71,749		66,377		59,304		53,559		- 0

		1-42-335		SHARED SPACE-AMERICAN EAGLE		- 0		44,962		74,932		79,307		91,549		90,639		100,587		95,140		- 0

		1-42-360		SHARED SPACE - DENVER AIR CONN		- 0		- 0		680		2,034		3,290		3,555		4,511		4,462		- 0

		1-42-365		SHARED SPACE-US AIRWAYS		- 0		- 0		- 0		47,492		89,836		118,181		125,922		116,590		- 0

		1-42-441		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-SKYW/DL		- 0		6,941		18,013		19,001		16,684		16,400		16,681		15,571		- 0

		1-42-442		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-SKYW/UA		- 0		8,099		15,026		36,225		48,311		47,974		48,163		44,613		- 0

		1-42-443		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-MESA/US		- 0		4,927		12,120		5,262		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-444		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-MESA/UA		- 0		6,829		22,309		8,439		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-445		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-ALLEGNT		- 0		2,318		11,868		14,343		13,797		13,067		11,386		10,241		- 0

		1-42-446		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-AMEAGLE		- 0		6,023		16,130		15,350		17,609		17,420		19,308		18,178		- 0

		1-42-447		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-LYNX AV		- 0		6,662		11,679		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-448		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-MISC		- 0		248		869		833		330		172		513		221		- 0

		1-42-449		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-DAC		- 0		- 0		545		1,443		2,638		2,850		3,615		3,577		- 0

		1-42-450		AIRLINE TICKETING AREA-US AIR		- 0		- 0		- 0		9,192		17,601		23,168		24,182		22,258		- 0

		1-44-100		SECURITY COSTS - GREAT LAKES		11,997		4,345		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-44-105		SECURITY COSTS - LYNX AVIATION		- 0		17,891		18,003		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-44-200		SECURITY COSTS - SKYWEST (DL)		39,003		27,799		27,796		29,434		24,514		25,661		34,670		28,816		- 0

		1-44-205		SECURITY COSTS - AIR WISCONSIN		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-44-300		SECURITY COSTS - SKYWEST (UA)		35,269		30,690		23,190		56,076		70,978		75,092		100,161		95,352		- 0

		1-44-500		SECURITY COSTS - MESA AIRLINES		56,007		48,595		53,155		21,258		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-44-600		SECURITY COSTS - ALLEGIANT AIR		11,772		10,571		18,298		21,930		20,277		22,056		23,657		21,100		- 0

		1-44-650		SECURITY COSTS-AMERICAN EAGLE		- 0		16,931		24,881		23,780		25,115		27,261		40,149		37,490		- 0

		1-44-655		SECURITY COSTS-US AIRWAYS		- 0		- 0		- 0		14,232		25,874		38,709		50,292		45,954		- 0

		1-44-700		SECURITY COSTS - MISC. CARRIER		1,774		1,429		1,343		1,292		486		269		1,070		455		- 0

		1-47-120		Rent - airline shared space		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		84,529		642,901

		1-47-110		Rent - airline exclusive space		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		144,996

		1-47-510		Landing fees - passenger		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		53,728		323,374

		1-41-125		LANDING FEES - GREAT LAKES		15,870		4,305		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-41-140		LANDING FEES - LYNX AVIATION		- 0		49,885		54,130		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-260		TERMINAL RENT - LYNX AVIATION		- 0		19,120		21,510		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-300		SHARED SPACE - GREAT LAKES		23,069		8,348		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-350		SHARED SPACE - AIR WISCONSIN		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0

		1-42-355		SHARED SPACE - LYNX AVIATION		- 0		48,128		59,757		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0		- 0



						900,520		1,083,932		1,403,149		1,442,923		1,525,947		1,569,702		1,707,449		1,735,564		1,111,271











enplanement

				2007		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013		2014		2015

		January		13,545		14,656		16,033		15,727		16,455		16,159		16,967		18,084		15,372

		February		12,059		13,149		14,953		14,432		14,126		15,409		14,628		16,015		13,904

		March		13,593		14,166		18,692		17,401		17,739		18,054		16,871		18,073		16,629

		April		13,517		14,715		17,861		17,667		17,298		17,896		17,258		17,145		16,189

		May		15,604		21,067		21,631		19,310		20,700		19,942		19,845		19,872		19,603

		June		15,062		19,449		22,379		19,023		20,493		20,153		19,202		19,142		20,381

		July		15,141		20,533		24,069		19,363		20,981		20,947		20,075		19,613

		August		14,661		20,001		23,284		20,268		19,546		19,813		18,259		18,643

		September		14,406		19,288		19,788		20,718		19,552		18,619		18,856		19,247

		October		14,813		20,460		18,693		20,756		19,265		19,101		19,787		19,148								0.029										40000

		November		14,008		17,305		16,719		18,386		17,585		17,025		17,104		16,768																		3060

		December		14,427		19,843		17,514		18,775		18,356		16,525		18,832		17,502								72		30000		72.5		($454.47)

		TOTAL		170,836		214,632		231,616		221,826		222,096		219,643		217,684		219,252		102,078







Current vs Prior

				2007		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013		2014		2015		2016		2017				month		year

		January		13,545		14,656		16,033		15,727		16,455		16,159		16,967		18,084		15,372		16,197		17,779				9.8%		9.8%

		February		12,059		13,149		14,953		14,432		14,126		15,409		14,628		16,015		13,904		15,965		16,563				3.7%

																		34,099		29,276		32,162		34,342						6.8%



		March		13,593		14,166		18,692		17,401		17,739		18,054		16,871		18,073		16,647		18,533		19,540				5.4%								16953		18003

				39,197		41,971		49,678		47,560		48,320		49,622		48,466		52,172		45,923		50,695		53,882						6.3%



		April		13,517		14,715		17,861		17,667		17,298		17,896		17,258		17,145		16,189		17,488		19,985				14.3%								1,299

																		69,317		62,112		68,183		73,867						8.3%						6,071



		May		15,604		21,067		21,631		19,310		20,700		19,942		19,845		19,872		19,603		19,795		21,632				9.3%

																		89,189		81,715		87,978		95,499						8.5%

																																						19057

		June		15,062		19,449		22,379		19,023		20,493		20,153		19,202		19,142		20,381		21,360		22,156				3.7%						979

																		108,331		102,096		109,338		117,655						7.6%				7,242



		July		15,141		20,533		24,069		19,363		20,981		20,947		20,075		19,613		21,712		21,497		21,762				1.2%

																		127,944		123,808		130,835		139,417						6.6%



		August		14,661		20,001		23,284		20,268		19,546		19,813		18,259		18,643		20,428		20,335		19,860				-2.3%

																		146,587		144,236		151,170		159,277						5.4%

																																						30.30		5,721.00		173,346.30		0.07		11,648.87		970.74		90.94

		September		14,406		19,288		19,788		20,718		19,552		18,619		18,856		19,247		19,624		21,415		20,702				-3.3%				9.1%						30.30		17,721.00		536,946.30		0.07		37,425.16		3,118.76		292.17

																		165,834		163,860		172,585		179,979						4.3%								30.30		4,587.00		138,986.10		0.07		9,339.87		778.32		72.91

																																						30.30		862.00						26,118.60		2,176.55		204.05

		October		14,813		20,460		18,693		20,756		19,265		19,101		19,787		19,148		19,825		22,777		22,511				-1.2%

																		184,982		183,685		195,362		202,490						3.6%								27.27		5,721.00		156,011.67		0.07		10,483.98		873.67		79.42

																																						27.27		17,721.00		483,251.67		0.07		33,682.64		2,806.89		255.17

		November		14,008		17,305		16,719		18,386		17,585		17,025		17,104		16,768		17,507		18,954		19,762				4.3%										27.27		4,587.00		125,087.49		0.07		8,405.88		700.49		63.68

																		201,750		201,192		214,316		222,252						3.7%								30.30		707.00						21,422.10		1,785.18		162.29



		December		14,427		19,843		17,514		18,775		18,356		16,525		18,832		17,502		17,756		18,356						-100.0%

		TOTAL		170,836		214,632		231,616		221,826		222,096		219,643		217,684		219,252		218,948		232,672		222,252						-4.5%

























				Month		Year																						Month		Year

		Jan		9.8%		9.8%																						9.8%		9.8%

		Feb		3.7%		6.8%																						3.7%		6.8%

		Mar		5.4%		6.3%																						5.4%		6.3%

		Apr		14.3%		8.3%																						14.3%		8.3%

		May		9.3%		8.5%																						9.3%		8.5%

		Jun		3.7%		7.6%																						3.7%		7.6%

		Jul		1.2%		6.6%																						1.2%		6.6%

		Aug		-2.3%		5.4%																						-2.3%		5.4%

		Sep		-3.3%		4.3%																						-3.3%		4.3%

		Oct		-1.2%		3.6%																						-1.2%		3.6%

		Nov		4.3%		3.7%																						4.3%		3.7%

		Dec																										-100.0%		-4.5%









																		Variance

														2016		2017		Passengers		Percent

												November		18,954		19,762		808		4.3%

												YTD		214,316		222,252		7,936		3.7%

				2016		2017

		Jan		16,197		17,779

		Feb		15,965		16,563

		Mar		18,533		19,540

		Apr		17,488		19,985

		May		19,795		21,632

		Jun		21,360		22,156

		Jul		21,497		21,762

		Aug		20,335		19,860

		Sep		21,415		20,702

		Oct		22,777		22,511

		Nov		18,954		19,762

		Dec		18,356



Enplanements

Current Year vs Prior Year Variance



Month	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	9.7672408470704353E-2	3.7456937049796357E-2	5.433550963146816E-2	0.14278362305580972	9.2801212427380708E-2	3.7265917602996357E-2	1.2327301483928021E-2	-2.3358741086796142E-2	-3.329441979920611E-2	-1.1678447556745852E-2	4.2629524111005512E-2	Year	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	9.7672408470704353E-2	6.7781854362291005E-2	6.2866160370845359E-2	8.3363888359268445E-2	8.5487280911136887E-2	7.6066875194351402E-2	6.5594068865364674E-2	5.3628365416418688E-2	4.2842657241359383E-2	3.6486112959531525E-2	3.702943317344487E-2	







Enplanements 

2016 vs 2017



2016	

Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	16197	15965	18533	17488	19795	21360	21497	20335	21415	22777	18954	18356	2017	

Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	17779	16563	19540	19985	21632	22156	21762	19860	20702	22511	19762	









Average

				Includes Revenue only																		Include Rev and Non-Rev

				2007		2008		2009		2010		2011		2012		2013		2014		2015		2016		2017						5 year average

		January		13,545		14,656		16,033		15,727		16,455		16,159		16,967		18,084		15,372		16,197		17,779						16,556		7.4%

		February		12,059		13,149		14,953		14,432		14,126		15,409		14,628		16,015		13,904		15,965		16,563						15,184		9.1%

		March		13,593		14,166		18,692		17,401		17,739		18,054		16,871		18,073		16,647		18,533		19,540						17,636		10.8%

		April		13,517		14,715		17,861		17,667		17,298		17,896		17,258		17,145		16,189		17,488		19,985						17,195		16.2%		(293)

		May		15,604		21,067		21,631		19,310		20,700		19,942		19,845		19,872		19,603		19,795		21,632						19,811		9.2%

		June		15,062		19,449		22,379		19,023		20,493		20,153		19,202		19,142		20,381		21,360		22,156						20,048		10.5%		(1,312)

		July		15,141		20,533		24,069		19,363		20,981		20,947		20,075		19,613		21,712		21,497		21,762						20,769		4.8%

		August		14,661		20,001		23,284		20,268		19,546		19,813		18,259		18,643		20,428		20,335		19,860						19,496		1.9%

		September		14,406		19,288		19,788		20,718		19,552		18,619		18,856		19,247		19,624		21,415		20,702						19,552		5.9%						166,246		172,585		3.81%

		October		14,813		20,460		18,693		20,756		19,265		19,101		19,787		19,148		19,825		22,777		22,511						20,128		11.8%

		November		14,008		17,305		16,719		18,386		17,585		17,025		17,104		16,768		17,507		18,954		19,762						17,472		13.1%

		December		14,427		19,843		17,514		18,775		18,356		16,525		18,832		17,502		17,756		18,356		- 0						17,794		-100.0%

		TOTAL		170,836		214,632		231,616		221,826		222,096		219,643		217,684		219,252		218,948		232,672		222,252						221,640



				5 Year Average		2017 Actual

		Jan		16,556		17,779		15,953

		Feb		15,184		16,563		14,346

		Mar		17,636		19,540		16,824

		Apr		17,195		19,985		16,670

		May		19,811		21,632		19,746

		Jun		20,048		22,156		19,363

		Jul		20,769		21,762		20,090

		Aug		19,496		19,860		19,309

		Sep		19,552		20,702		18,809

		Oct		20,128		22,511		19,003

		Nov		17,472		19,762		16,863

		Dec		17,794				17,722

				221,640		222,252		214,698

														Variance

										5 Year Avg		2017		Passengers		Percent

								November		17,472		19,762		2,290		13.1%

								YTD		203,846		222,252		18,406		9.0%



Enplanements 

Current Year vs 5 Year Average



2017 Actual	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	17779	16563	19540	19985	21632	22156	21762	19860	20702	22511	19762	5 Year Average	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	16555.8	15184.2	17635.599999999999	17195.2	19811.400000000001	20047.599999999999	20768.8	19495.599999999999	19552.2	20127.599999999999	17471.599999999999	17794.2	

Enplanements











Sheet2

						lbs		landings		enplane														landings		enplane

		Delta/Skywest		CRJ		47,000		85		3,150				50		4,250		74%						61		2,267



		United/Skywest		CR6		67,000		4						70		280

				CRJ		47,000		51						50		2,550

				ER7		74,957		1						70		70

										2,390						2,900		82%



		United/Express Jet		XRJ		44,092		4		170				50		200		85%



		United/Trans State		ERJ145L		42,549		6						50		300

				ERJ145X		44,092		49						50		2,450

										2,235						2,750		81%						145		6,336



		Allegiant		MD83		139,500		9		1,208				160		1,440		84%						10		1,207



		American		E145		43,651		82						50		4,100

				CRJ7		67,000		1						70		70

				CRJ2		47,000		90						50		4,500

										6,907						8,670		80%						151		5,930



		Key Lime								750

		Sun Country								74

														4,795		5850		0.8196581197







Aircraft Changes – November 2016 vs 2017
Landings only

0

20

40

60

80

CRJ2
(50)

CRJ7
(70)

CRJ9
(76)

E175
(76)

9

52

76

00

70

0

80

American Airlines

2016 2017

0

10

20

30

40

50

CR6
(65)

CRJ
(50)

ERJ145XR
(50)

41 43

22

47

30 31

United Airlines

2016 2017

0

2

4

6

8

MD 83
(166)

MD 88
(166)

8

1

7

2

Allegiant Air

2016 2017

82

83

84

CRJ
(50)

83

84
Delta Airlines

2016 2017

0

20

40

60

80

DO 328
 (32)

EMB 120
 (30)

SA-226
 (19)

SA-227
 (19)

4 0 1

79

46

4 2

46

Denver Air Connection

2016 2017



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Commemorative Air Force (CAF) lease 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board to determine after discussion 

DISCUSSION: The CAF (operating under the name Rocky Mountain Hangar) is requesting a 
revision to their existing lease to an annual lease payment of zero.  The CAF 
leases 4 hangars with three of the hangars sublet to third parties and the 
remaining hangar occupied by CAF in addition to the museum hangar. 
 
The CAF extended their lease by signing a 10 year option in 2016, therefore 
expiring June 30, 2027.  The current annual rent is $5,790, however, CAF has 
requested to move to a new standard lease.  This would result in an annual rent 
of $11,555. 
 
CAF is requesting to be considered for a zero dollar lease under the FAA 
policy and procedures concerning the use of airport revenue: 

The Final Policy permits airport operators to charge reduced rental 
rates and fees, including nominal rates, to not-for-profit aviation 
museums, to the extent that the reduction is reasonably justified by the 
tangible and intangible benefits to the airport or civil aviation. 
 
The Final Policy permits but does not require below-market rental 
rates, including nominal rates. The airport operator is free to treat a 
qualified aviation museum as it would any other aeronautical activity 
in setting rental rates and other fees to be paid by the museum. 

 
The attached memo is an overview of the services provided by the museum 
and CAF.  As identified in the FAA guidance, if the board is considering a rent 
reduction there needs to be a corresponding tangible/intangible benefit to the 
airport or civil aviation. 

1. Example of a tangible benefit – does the Airport receive any of the 
proceeds from a CAF fundraiser. 

2. Examples of an intangible benefit – how many people visit the 
museum, do these people seek jobs in aviation, does CAF promote 
Grand Junction Airport as a valuable partner/sponsor, and does CAF 
volunteer to help at the airshows therefore reducing required staff 
time. 

 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: Total annual rent of $11,555 

ATTACHMENTS: Memo provided by CAF 

STAFF CONTACT: Ty Minnick 
tminnick@gjairport.com 
970-248-8593 
 

mailto:tminnick@gjairport.com


CAF Rocky Mountain Wing Request for Special Lease Treatment 
Introduction 
The Commemorative Air Force Rocky Mountain Wing is a non-profit, 100% volunteer-run organization based at the 
Grand Junction Regional Airport, and has been active here since 1981.  We run an American Aviation Heritage 
Museum, and we restore, maintain, and operate historically significant WWII-era aircraft – currently a 1946 J3 Cub 
and a 1945 TBM Avenger torpedo bomber (on the Colorado Register of Historic Properties and recently nominated 
for the National Register).  We keep the memory, spirit, and values of the Greatest Generation alive by educating, 
entertaining, and inspiring current and future generations with stories of the heroes that participated in WWII, 
both in combat and on the home front. 

Request 
We ask the Airport Board to consider a 10-year, zero-cost ground lease for the CAF Museum, Hangar Complex, and 
Ramp. 

Rationale 
The Rocky Mountain Wing brings a variety of tangible and intangible benefits to the Airport and the Grand Valley 
community.   

• Our special events (e.g., Open Houses, Photo Shoots, Hangar Dances, Visits with Santa, etc.) and visits to 
our Museum expose a broad variety of people to the Airport every year.   

• Our affiliation with the Commemorative Air Force facilitates access to 160+ Flying WWII aircraft for Grand 
Junction Aviation events (e.g., the Tora! Tora! Tora! Pearl Harbor re-enactment at the 2015 GJ Air Show, 
and B29 Fifi and B17 Sentimental Journey Living History Flight Experiences). 

• Our own participation in Grand Junction Airshows and aviation events - ICAS data indicates that WWII 
aircraft are the second most popular attractions at aviation events, behind jet teams. 

• Our own Living History Flight Experience offerings in our TBM Avenger and our J3 Cub.  
• Our annual Rise Above educational/inspirational program will touch over 2,000 middle-school children 

this year.  Based on true stories of the Tuskegee Airmen and WASPs, the program shows the children how 
others overcame extreme hardship and obstacles, and encourages them to rise above their own hardships 
and perceived limitations.  Some of these children will no doubt be inspired to pursue aviation-related 
careers and/or avocations.  

• Our CAF Cadet program provides an avenue for youth (and their families) to experience aviation in a 
hands-on, interactive way. 

• Our 5-year goals are aligned with Airport and Community growth goals.  We expect to grow our 
membership from 80 to 300+.  We will triple our Museum and Hangar space to accommodate additional 
aircraft and exhibits.  We will extend the Rise Above educational outreach program across the Western 
Slope.  In short, we intend to become a destination. 

• Achieving our goals will require a great deal of advertising – media, newspaper, and word-of-mouth.  All 
our advertising will of course contain references to the GJRA as a Sponsor. 

While it is difficult to put a dollar value on these benefits, we believe the exposure and good will associated with 
our programs and presence on the airport, plus the value of including GJRA as a sponsor in our advertising, fund 
raising, and membership campaigns will far exceed the value of the lease. 

Thank you for your consideration, 
 

 

Kent Taylor – Wing Leader, CAF Rocky Mountain Wing 
970.921.3700 | acrokent@outlook.com 

mailto:acrokent@outlook.com









































































































































	001- Regular Board Meeting - DEC 2017
	01- Agenda-Regular Board Meeting December 19, 2017
	1.1- November 9, 2017 - Special Board Meeting Minutes
	Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board

	1.2- November 16, 2017 - Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board

	1.3- November 28, 2017 - Special Board Meeting Minutes
	Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board

	1.4- December 5, 2017 - Special Board Meeting Minutes
	Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board

	2- Agenda Item Summary- G4S Invoice
	3- Agenda Item Summary- DKMG
	4- Agenda Item Summary- Veoci
	5- Agenda Item Summary- Mead & Hunt invoice PBB
	6- Agenda Item Summary- Mead & Hunt invoice Term Bldg
	7- Financial report
	8- November 2017 Activity Slides
	Enplanements and Activity Report 
	Enplanements and Activity Report 
	Aircraft Changes – November 2016 vs 2017�Landings only

	9- Agenda Item Summary- CAF
	CAF Rocky Mountain Wing Request for Special Lease Treatment
	Introduction
	Request
	Rationale


	10- Board Update 171214
	11- Agenda Item Summary- IHC invoice E Terminal Apron
	13- Agenda Item Summary- Garver Amendment E Terminal Apron
	14- Agenda Item Summary- Garver invoice E Terminal Apron
	15- Agenda Item Summary- Garver Task Order
	16- Agenda Item Summary- Mead & Hunt invoice Rwy
	17- Agenda Item Summary- RTR Geotech



